COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

EDWARD O. GORRE

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA and
THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2012 NOV 5 AM 10:04
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY 
DEPUTY

Ron Meyers
Ken Gorton
Tim Friedman
Attorneys for Appellant
Edward O. Gorre

Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC
8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A
Lacey, WA 98516
(360) 459-5600
WSBA No. 13169
WSBA No. 37597
WSBA No. 37983

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant career firefighter, Lieutenant Ed Gorre (hereinafter “Lt. Gorre”), suffers from respiratory diseases: eosinophilia\interstitial lung disease and coccidiomycosis. These conditions are presumptively caused by occupational exposure and/or occupational aggravation of a preexisting condition. Either of the above conditions, caused or aggravated by his employment as a firefighter, entitles him to benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act.

In this firefighter presumptive disease case causation is established by the presumptions of respiratory disease and infectious disease set forth in RCW 51.32.185. The lower tribunals failed to properly apply the presumptions and establish that the burden of proof is on the Respondent, City of Tacoma (hereinafter “Employer”) and prejudiced Lt. Gorre by forcing him to prove causation. Had the presumptive disease statute been applied correctly, it would be the Employer’s responsibility to disprove causation before the BIIA, and, on appeal, the Employer’s responsibility to rebut with a preponderance of objective medical evidence the strong statutory presumption of occupational respiratory disease and infectious disease in the statute that mandates additional protection to firefighters.

The Employer’s, Board’s and Courts’ failures to apply the presumptive disease statute effectively rendered the presumptive disease

statute meaningless and constitutes reversible error.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals at summary judgment and at hearing, and the Superior Court committed reversible error when they failed to apply the presumptions in RCW 51.32.185 when Lt. Gorre had different diagnoses for both respiratory disease and infectious disease for claims of eosinophilia\ interstitial lung disease and for coccidiomycosis because these diagnoses were both presumptive diseases for firefighters? YES.

2. Whether the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals at summary judgment and at hearing, and the Superior Court committed reversible error when each of the presumptions were not rebutted, (a) by a preponderance of relevant, credible and admissible medical testimony but were based upon speculation, conjecture and genetic predisposition; and (b) did not rule out occupation as a proximate cause of each of the respiratory and infectious conditions? YES.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual History.

Lt. Gorre has been a professional firefighter with the City of Tacoma since March 17, 1997. Edward Gorre, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 28 (4) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). Prior to his employment, he undertook and passed a demanding pre-employment test of physical strength and stamina, and a physical which included blood testing and x-rays. Edward Gorre, *Transcripts: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010) 107(13-19) (certified board record on filed with Division II Court of Appeals). In February or March of 2007, Lt. Gorre began to experience symptoms including fatigue, night sweats, chills, and diffuse

joint aches. He underwent a lung biopsy, upon which foreign material and nodules were found in his lungs. Employer's Motion to Compel and Motion to Continue Summary Judgment Proceedings, *Exhibit G: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010)(certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals 214-218).

On April 20, 2007, Lt. Gorre reported an RCW 51.32.185 presumptive occupational disease to Employer after his physician had found evidence of respiratory/inhalation injury from the results of a lung biopsy. Self-Insurer Accident Report, *Exhibits: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010)(certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). On May 2, 2007, Lt. Gorre began treating with Dr. Christopher H. Goss, at the University of Washington Division of Pulmonary & Critical Care Medicine. There were initial concerns that Lt. Gorre's symptoms could possibly be the result of a reaction to mold, and he had recently remodeled his home. Although any such exposure was far more likely to have occurred during his occupation as a firefighter, he had a professional inspection done of his home which "did not reveal obvious sources of contaminants or conditions which would be responsible for occupant symptoms." Edward Gorre, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 67-69 (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). Furthermore, Lt. Gorre had Rose Environmental implement the recommendations contained in the report.

Lt. Gorre's lung biopsy was analyzed at the University of Washington, and he was given a differential diagnosis of "granulomas with eosinophilic inflammation." It was noted that "The granulomas seem to be *located near respiratory bronchioles...*". Declaration of Garrison Ayars, M.D., *Exhibit D: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals 780-781). There were several possible causes of the granulomas with eosiniphilic inflammation listed; however, each of the possible causes likely stemmed from his occupation as a firefighter, and it was clear that this was a respiratory disease. Lt. Gorre was treated with prednisone, an immune system suppressant, and his symptoms were alleviated for a short while. Edward Gorre, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 57(8) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). In March of 2008, he again began experiencing respiratory problems, and it was shown that he had a significant bronchodialator response. In April of 2008 a biopsy of a skin nodule indicated Coccidiomycosis, a disease contracted through inhalation and which affects the respiratory system. Lt. Gorre had not been in any endemic area, in the year prior to presenting with symptoms of the Coccidiomycosis, ruling out the contraction of Coccidiomycosis anywhere besides in Washington. Dr. Royce Johnson, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 22 (13-16) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals).

The most probable, and also the *presumptive*, exposure to Coccidiomycosis was during the course of Lt. Gorre's occupation as a firefighter. *Id.* at 23(12-24).

Duties of a firefighter are varied and often extreme; ranging from pulling bars off windows and forcing doors, to cutting holes through roofs, to crawling through the burning building looking for potential survivors. Edward Gorre, *Transcripts (June 7, 2010): In re: Edward O. Gorre 09 13340 (2010)*, 111(13-26), 112(1-22) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). While SCBA (self-contained breathing apparatus) is worn during the fire, it was not until 2007 that SCBA was worn during overhaul when smoke, fumes and toxic substances are still present. Edward Gorre, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre 09 13340 (2010)*, 31(17-25), 32(1-16) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). In addition to exposure to smoke, fumes and toxic substances from fighting fires, the firefighter/paramedic's also go on other types of calls. Those calls include answering 911 calls at homes filled with garbage, cigarette smoke, unknown fumes, and other toxic substances. Edward Gorre, *Transcripts (June 7, 2010): In re: Edward O. Gorre 09 13340 (2010)*, 125-127(certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). During such calls, Lt. Gorre and other firefighter/EMT's do not wear any kind of respiratory protection. *Id.* at 127(2-13).

Due to his position as a firefighter/paramedic, Lt. Gorre was often the first person on the scene to provide advanced life support care. Edward Gorre, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 33 (3-25), 34 (1-8)(certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). He was also responsible for search and rescue at fire scenes and accident scenes. *Id.* During these events, and at all other times except initial fire attack, Lt. Gorre was not wearing his SCBA. *Id.*

During the time period from 2006 to mid 2007, Lt. Gorre responded to several construction site calls. Edward Gorre, *Transcripts (June 7, 2010): In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 131(14-26), 132(1-9) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). These calls brought Lt. Gorre to several locations where heavy equipment was being used to dig deeply into the earth, and to dig around foundations. *Id.* Lt. Gorre would respond to calls regarding incidents along the I-5 corridor, often several times a shift. *Id.* at 132 - 134. During these calls, since Lt. Gorre was a paramedic, his job was primarily patient care. This meant Lt. Gorre was responsible for extricating patients from vehicles, triage, care of injured persons at the scene and transporting patients. *Id.* at 29(25-26), 30(1-6). Firefighter/paramedics do not know if these injured persons have any infectious or respiratory diseases. *Id.* at 30(7-13). In addition to danger from injured persons, Lt. Gorre and other firefighter/paramedics were exposed to smoke, fumes and

toxic substances when responding to freeway calls. *Id.* at 30(14-26), 31(1-8), 85(17-26). Even when not out on a call fighting fires or attending to the sick and infirm, Lt. Gorre was still exposed to toxic substances and dangerous conditions. For example, when returning to the station, firefighters are always subjected to heavy diesel and benzene fumes from the fire trucks. *Id.* at 32(2-26), 33(1-6), 134(12-26), 135(1-10).

At one of the fire stations where Lt. Gorre often worked in 24 hour shifts, there was a serious mold issue. *Id.* at 135(14-26), 136(1-3). At that station, Lt. Gorre would become ill and suffer from sinus congestion. *Id.* Due to the recurring mold issue, and its effect on his respiratory system, Lt. Gorre transferred to a different station. *Id.*

Lt. Gorre, as a firefighter, experienced situations and environments that most people would find difficult to even imagine. It is important to review just a few of the hundreds of situations he experienced over his career in order to demonstrate the extensive exposures, as well as to highlight the difficulty in pointing to a particular exposure or situation, as the causes of a presumptive occupational disease condition, or conditions. *Id.* at 33(21-26), 34(1).

Lt. Gorre has had to break into a home, climb over six foot high piles of garbage, buckets of human waste, mold, and rotted food to reach a man who had burned himself up when he rolled onto a heater. *Id.* at 136(7-26),

137(1-16). Firefighters are often called to inspect old buildings, where homeless people will build fires, take illegal drugs, or sleep. *Id.* at 137(20-26), 138(1-21). Lt. Gorre, in one of many building inspections, went into an old chicken processing plant that was filled with bird feathers and droppings. *Id.* at 138(13-26), 139(1-3). In another inspection, Lt. Gorre went into a wood manufacturing plant where there was a haze filling the room from all the dust. *Id.* Lt. Gorre and other firefighters do not wear respiratory protection in these situations. *Id.* at 140(22-26), 141(1-7). Obviously, it is impossible to identify what the health risks are from entering a filthy home or an old processing plant; but a firefighter enters such locations because that is his job. *Id.* at 25(3-22). Lt. Gorre and other firefighter/paramedics transport patients in the back of their medic unit. *Id.* at 23(9-16). This is a very confined space and the paramedics are usually touching and performing procedures on the person being transported. *Id.* The paramedics frequently do not know what infectious or viral diseases these patients have. *Id.* Firefighters also respond to injury and disease calls to transient populations. *Id.* at 27(3-26), 28(1-5). On these calls, there is often dirt, human filth, drug use, and sometimes violence directed at the firefighter/paramedics. *Id.*

As part of the technical rescue team at Station 8, Lt. Gorre was also actively involved with trench rescue. *Id.* at 141 (17-26), 142 (1-23). As part of the required training for being a member of the technical rescue team, Lt.

Gorre was sent to a week of training on trench rescue. *Id.* This training included using an excavator to dig 12 feet deep into the earth, and putting a simulated “victim” in the hole. *Id.* Then the firefighters would shore up the hole and enter the hole to rescue the “victim”. *Id.* Lt. Gorre would crawl down into the hole, dig the “victim” out and remove the dirt and set up a rigging system to evacuate the “victim”. *Id.* Lt. Gorre did not wear any respiratory protection during this week long trench rescue training, even while several feet below the surface. *Id.* at 142(20-23).

Lt. Gorre has responded to calls for wild land fires, broken bones, and homeless people at the old Tacoma Airport. *Id.* at 143-144. Firefighters do not wear respiratory protection when responding to wild land fires. *Id.* Sometimes the dust from ATV riders at the old airport was so thick it looked like there were fires when there were not. *Id.* Firefighter/paramedics do not wear respiratory protection when responding to medical calls.

Lt. Gorre has also responded to calls at Point Defiance Park. *Id.* at 145 (2-4). One call involved a fire caused by a train traveling through the area. *Id.* Since there was no access to water, the firefighters had to dig a fire line and use the dirt along the track to put out the fire. *Id.* The firefighters wore their wild land gear which does not include respiratory protection. *Id.* at 144(21-26), 145(12-14).

Not even the Employer knows the number of times Lt. Gorre was exposed to dangerous smoke, fumes and toxic substances, including bacteria and viral exposures, or other harmful substances. *Id.* at 75-76. The Employer does not measure the types of smoke, fumes or toxic substances firefighters are exposed to on calls. The records it keeps are incomplete and fail to record the types and amounts of career exposures Lt. Gorre and other career firefighters experience. *Id.* at 16-17, 146-149.

1. Lt. Gorre's Treating Doctors

a. Dr. Royce Johnson.

Dr. Johnson is board certified in internal medicine since 1974 and infectious disease since 1976. Dr. Royce Johnson, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 9(14-18) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). Dr. Johnson is the director of the Infectious Disease Consult Clinic at UCLA in Bakersfield, California, and the director of a separate coccidioidomycosis clinic. *Id.* at 11(11-24). The doctor has been a member of the Coccidioidomycosis Study Group ("CSG") since 1975. *Id.* at 14(2-15). CSG is a group "devoted entirely to the study of all aspects of coccidioidomycosis, valley fever, cocci" and all its manifestations. *Id.* The doctor has also written and lectured extensively on all aspects of coccidioidomycosis. *Id.* at 15 -18. Lt. Gorre was referred to Dr. Johnson by one of his attending physicians because of Dr. Johnson's expertise on all

aspects of coccidioidomycosis. Dr. Johnson found that Lt. Gorre was in good health until the end of 2006, when he developed flu-like symptoms for which he was evaluated in January of 2007. *Id.* at 19(4-21). At the time of his January 2007 evaluation, Lt. Gorre was found to have “an absolute eosinophilia” and underwent a lung biopsy which “showed eosinophilic granulomatous disease.” *Id.* Following the results of the biopsy, and “major workup” following the biopsy, but without a specific diagnosis being made, Lt. Gorre was put on Prednisone therapy. *Id.* Lt. Gorre also received treatment for class II tuberculosis, a respiratory disease. *Id.* Dr. Johnson explained that in March of 2008, Lt. Gorre was at a social event and a dermatologist at the same event noticed a skin lesion on Lt. Gorre. *Id.* at 19-20. This lesion was biopsied and Lt. Gorre was diagnosed with coccidioidomycosis. *Id.* Dr. Johnson testified that the spores that cause coccidioidomycosis can waft around in the air and travel at least 75 miles. *Id.* at 20(14-20).

Dr. Johnson stated with certainty that since Lt. Gorre did not leave Washington in the six weeks prior to the onset of symptoms, then *it is “much more likely than not” that the coccidioidomycosis infection was acquired in the state of Washington.* *Id.* at 22(13-16). Further, the doctor opined that it was more likely than not that Lt. Gorre’s disease was a result of his work as a firefighter for the Tacoma Fire Department. *Id.* at 23(10-24).

Dr. Johnson addressed some of the records from the Employer's doctors. Specifically, he noted that most of them had "very little understanding of coccidioidomycosis, its incubation, its pathogenesis, its clinical presentation." *Id.* at 28(1-17). The doctor explained that coccidioidomycosis is "almost always eventuated from either symptomatic or asymptomatic pneumonic disease." *Id.* Dr. Johnson testified about a number of firefighters in California diagnosed with coccidioidomycosis, but explained that often this sort of thing is not reported or published. *Id.* at 37(15-25), 38(1-6). The doctor noted that in each of these firefighters cases it was determined to be a work-related exposure. *Id.*

Dr. Johnson noted that it would be very unlikely for someone to have coccidioidomycosis for several years and have no symptoms, then years later present with the disseminated disease. *Id.* at 43 (12-25), 44(1-5). In other words, according to Dr. Johnson, the odds of Lt. Gorre acquiring the disease when he was living in California, and the disease not manifesting itself until the date of injury, is "less than one in 10,000." *Id.* at 45(13-18).

The world renowned doctor disagreed with the Employer's supposition that Lt. Gorre just as likely contracted coccidioidomycosis while on a camping trip or remodeling his house, or working on his yard. *Id.* at 51(16-25), 52(1-4). The doctor explained that it was much more likely Lt. Gorre acquired coccidioidomycosis through work activities, especially along

I-5, than through any recreational activities or from working on his property.

Id.

b. Dr. Christopher Goss.

Dr. Goss has been board certified as a critical care medicine physician since November of 2000. Dr. Christopher Goss, *Depositions: In re: Edward O. Gorre* 09 13340 (2010), 6(25), 7(1-4) (certified board record on file with Division II Court of Appeals). He is also board certified in pulmonary medicine. *Id.* at 7(23-25), 8(1-6). Additionally, he is also board certified in internal medicine. *Id.* at 8(13-21).

Lt. Gorre was referred to Dr. Goss by another attending physician, Dr. Paul Standstrom, a pulmonologist. *Id.* at 16(24-25), 17(1-6). The purpose of the referral was for Dr. Goss to provide an opinion on the etiology of Lt. Gorre's eosinophilic lung disease. *Id.* ***Dr. Goss noted that all eosinophilic lung diseases are respiratory diseases.*** *Id.* at 17(7-15). This classification of respiratory disease, places Lt. Gorre's condition squarely under the protection of RCW 51.32.185.

Dr. Goss noted an association with eosinophilic lung disease and exposure to dust. *Id.* at 22(15-25). He explained this has been well documented in situations including soldiers returning from the Iraq war, and firefighters after 9/11. The symptoms in these situations mirrored Lt. Gorre's

in that the disease was “notable for shortness of breath, systemic symptoms and response to steroids.” *Id.* at 23(1-7).

Lt. Gorre responded quickly to the steroid Prednisone, resulting in an “almost complete resolution of his pulmonary infiltrates.” *Id.* at 23(3-7).

According to Dr. Goss, Lt. Gorre noticed a bump on his forehead during the time the Prednisone was tapered off, but Lt. Gorre did not pursue treatment or a diagnosis for this bump. *Id.* at 23(12-25), 24(1-2). When Lt. Gorre did finally have the bump biopsied, many months after treatment by Dr. Goss, the biopsy showed spores of coccidioidomycosis. *Id.* The doctor explained that the presentation of spores outside the lung is suggestive of disseminated coccidioidomycosis. *Id.*

Dr. Goss determined Lt. Gorre’s lung condition was related to his employment as a firefighter on a more probable than not basis. *Id.* at 24 (3-25), 25(1-6). Specifically, the doctor opined that Lt. Gorre had a work related lung disease that was treated with steroids, and the steroids caused dissemination of coccidioidomycosis. *Id.* The doctor supported this conclusion since, other than the isolated skin lesion, Lt. Gorre never had cocci in other parts of his body. *Id.* Since Lt. Gorre was fairly quickly weaned off steroids for his work-related eosinophilic lung disease, the steroids kept Lt. Gorre’s coccidioidomycosis in check, preventing it from causing lesions on any other part of his body. *Id.*

2. Employer's Hired Experts

a. Dr. Garrison Ayars.

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