FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2013 JAN -7 AM 9:22

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY *JW*
DEPUTY

NO. 43621-3-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

EDWARD O. GORRE;

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA
Attorney General

ANASTASIA SANDSTROM
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 24163
800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 464-7740

ORIGINAL

PM 1/4/13

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

The trial court found that valley fever was an infectious disease. CP 942; BR 8. This is supported by substantial evidence. Gorre asserts that Dr. Johnson indicated that coccidioidomycosis is a respiratory disease. AB 32 (citing BR Johnson 28). He cites to BR Johnson 28, for

¹¹ Gorre’s interpretation leads to absurd results as there are hundreds of infectious diseases that have respiratory symptoms. BR Ayars 100.

this proposition; however, Dr. Johnson does not say this. BR Johnson 4-56.¹²

With no citation to the record, Gorre asserts that “[i]t has already been conceded by the Employer’s experts that Coccidioidomycosis is a respiratory disease.” AB 32. There is no such concession. Dr. Ayars and Dr. Bardana testified that valley fever is considered an infectious disease. *See* BR Ayars 100; BR Bardana 11. Doctors, including Dr. Johnson, an infectious disease expert in coccidioidomycosis, treat it as an infectious disease. *See* BR Johnson 9, 11, 16-18, 20; BR Goss 50; BR Bollyky 8; BR Ayars 93. While it can cause respiratory symptoms, this does not mean it is a respiratory disease.

Dr. Ayars’s and Dr. Bardana’s testimony that valley fever is an infectious disease provides substantial evidence in support of the trial court’s finding. In any event, even assuming for the sake of argument that Dr. Johnson’s testimony can somehow be construed as supporting the notion that valley fever is a respiratory disease, there is, indisputably, substantial evidence to the contrary, and the superior court committed no error in finding that valley fever is not a respiratory disease.

¹² What Dr. Johnson says is that there is proof of disseminated coccidioidomycosis, “[a]nd that’s almost always eventuated from either symptomatic or asymptomatic pneumonic disease.” BR Johnson 28.

3. Substantial Evidence Supports the Finding That Gorre Had the Infectious Disease Of Valley Fever Only

Gorre also claims that he has the respiratory disease of “eosinophilia\interstitial lung disease,” in addition to coccidioidomycosis. AB 29-31. However, the trial court found that Gorre had only one condition—valley fever—and that he “did not have the separate diseases of eosinophilia or interstitial lung disease.” CP 942. The trial court found “Mr. Gorre’s symptoms were manifestations of his coccidioidomycosis.” CP 942. Gorre nonetheless continues to argue that he had “eosinophilia\interstitial lung disease” that led to him having a comprised immune system and made him more likely to acquire coccidioidomycosis. AB 30-31.

Whether Gorre suffered from one separately diagnosable disease or two is a question of fact. Thus, to show that the superior court erred in finding that the only disease he suffered from was valley fever, Gorre would have to show that the superior court’s finding was not supported by *any* competent medical evidence. *See Bering*, 106 Wn.2d at 220 (substantial evidence is evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the matter). Gorre does not, and cannot, make such a showing here, and, as such, he fails to show that the

superior court erred in finding that he only suffered from one disease, valley fever.

Gorre argues he has eosinophilic lung disease based on Dr. Goss's diagnosis and based on Dr. Bollyky's testimony. *See* AB 30-31. But substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that Gorre had only one disease—valley fever—and not the separate disease of eosinophilic lung disease. *See* CP 942. Dr. Bollyky did not testify that Gorre had eosinophilic lung disease. BR Bollyky 1-35. Dr. Ayars testified that Gorre had valley fever and no other disease. BR Ayars 104-05. Dr. Bardana similarly testified there was only valley fever and no other disease. BR Bardana 18. Dr. Johnson thought Gorre had valley fever. BR Johnson 20. Dr. Johnson disagreed with Dr. Goss's proposition that he had a dormant cocci that was caused to disseminate by the use of steroids. BR Johnson 33. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding.

Gorre also argues that he has interstitial lung disease. AB 30. He relies on Dr. Bollyky's testimony that interstitial lung disease responds to steroid treatments. AB 30 (citing to BR Bollyky 29). Dr. Bollyky, however, did not testify that Gorre had interstitial lung disease. BR Bollyky 1-35. Gorre's theory that he may have had an interstitial lung disease is speculative and unsupported by medical testimony, and, in any

event, there is ample medical testimony that Gorre suffered from only one disease, valley fever. The trial court committed no error when it rejected Gorre's theory that he had an interstitial lung disease, and this Court should uphold that finding.

B. Substantial Evidence Supports The Trial Court's Determination that Gorre Did Not Incur Any Disease That Arose Naturally And Proximately From His Employment

The presumption in RCW 51.32.185 does not apply here. But in any event, whether it applies or not, substantial evidence supports the determination that Gorre did not have an occupational disease that is related to his employment.

To prove the existence of an occupational disease, the worker has to prove that the condition arose naturally and proximately out of distinctive conditions of employment. RCW 51.08.140; *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 476, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). To prove a condition arose "naturally" out of the employment, the worker must show that "his or her particular work conditions more probably caused his or her disease or disease-based disability than conditions in everyday life or all employments in general; the disease must be a natural incident of the worker's particular employment." *Id.* at 481. To prove the condition "proximately" arose out of employment, the worker must prove that the disease would not have been contracted "but for" the conditions existing

in employment. *Simpson Logging Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 32 Wn.2d 472, 479, 202 P.2d 448 (1949). The causal connection between a claimant's condition and his or her employment must be established by competent medical testimony that shows that the condition is probably, not merely possibly, caused by the employment. *Raum*, 286 P.3d at 704 (citing *Dennis*, 109 Wn.2d at 477).¹³

1. RCW 51.32.185 Does Not Require Any Particular Type Of Evidence To Rebut The Presumption

Gorre makes a number of arguments about the meaning of the rebuttable evidentiary presumption in RCW 51.32.185 and the type of evidence that is necessary to rebut the presumption. He argues that he is entitled to “presumptive occupational disease and occupational disease benefits.” AB 34. He claims that the “firefighter presumption of occupational disease sits on top of the [Industrial Insurance Act] and grants additional benefits in favor of firefighters.” AB 43.

Gorre essentially argues that there are two different types of claims, a RCW 51.32.185 presumptive claim, and a RCW 51.08.140 occupational disease claim. The court in *Raum* rejected a similar argument: “RCW 51.32.185(1) creates no new cause of action—it

¹³ See also *Rambeau v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 24 Wn.2d 44, 49-50, 163 P.2d 133 (1945) (holding that testimony that “a condition might have, or could probably have, been brought about by a certain happening” is insufficient as a matter of law to present a case to a jury, since evidence merely establishing that something is possible, as opposed to probable, is, at best, “conjectural and speculative”).

establishes a ‘*presumption*’ that applies to certain firefighter claims. . . . RCW 51.32.185 does nothing more than create a rebuttable evidentiary presumption. We conclude the statute creates no occupational disease claim different from that defined in RCW 51.08.140.” *Raum*, 286 P.3d at 705-06 (emphasis in original).¹⁴

Gorre argues that there must be certain kinds of evidence to rebut the presumption, asserting the employer “must prove by a preponderance of admissible evidence that Lt. Gorre’s occupational disease was acquired by some specific cause outside his career employment as a firefighter.” AB 35; *see also* AB 36, 44. He asserts “[t]he presumption was created to impose a *high* burden on the Employer or the Department when attempting to defeat the presumption.” AB 35 (emphasis added).

Gorre is mistaken that there is a particular type of evidence unique to the firefighter context. Generally, a worker claiming entitlement to benefits for an occupational disease carries the burden of proving that the disabling condition arose naturally and proximately out of employment. *Ruse v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 6, 977 P.2d 570 (1999); *Raum*, 286 P.3d at 704. If RCW 51.32.185’s rebuttable evidentiary

¹⁴ As the City of Tacoma argues, RCW 51.32.185 does not create a strict liability statute at the Department, Board, or superior court levels. City of Tacoma Respondent/Cross-Appellant’s Brief 34-39. Nor does it create an irrebuttable presumption. *Raum*, 286 P.3d at 705-06; City of Tacoma Respondent/Cross-Appellant’s Brief 34-39.

presumption applies, the burden of proof shifts to the employer and the Department to establish that it is more probable than not that it is not work related. *Raum*, 286 P.3d at 704. But the Department and employer may rebut this presumption through any evidence that is relevant to whether the disease is related to the worker's employment or not. *See* RCW 51.32.185(1).

RCW 51.32.185(1) provides that the "presumption of occupational disease may be rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence." The Legislature did not say this was to be a high burden. Rather, "[s]uch evidence may include, *but is not limited to*, use of tobacco products, physical fitness and weight, lifestyle, hereditary factors, and exposure from other employment or nonemployment activities." RCW 51.32.185(1) (emphasis added). This is a broad and non-exclusive list of the type of evidence that rebuts the presumption, and it controls.¹⁵ Gorre in effect argues that it is an exclusive list of the types of evidence that can

¹⁵ Cases from foreign jurisdictions do not control over this express Washington provision. Gorre relies on cases from other jurisdictions for the proposition that these "cases agree that a presumptive statute cannot be overcome by expert testimony which simply challenges the premise of the presumption. Instead, to overcome the presumption, the Employer must procure clear medical evidence of a cause for the presumptive disease, outside of claimant's employment. Testimony regarding idiopathic or unknown causes is not sufficient." AB 44. Even accepting that his characterization of these cases is correct, they do not apply in Washington. Rather the terms of RCW 51.32.185 apply, together with Washington case law. *See Raum*, 286 P.3d at 710 (rejecting application of foreign cases). Washington's Industrial Insurance Act is unique and it is well accepted that case law from other jurisdictions is of little assistance in interpreting the Act. *See Dennis*, 109 Wn.2d at 482-83; *Wheaton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 40 Wn.2d 56, 57, 240 P.2d 567 (1952).

be used to rebut the presumption of coverage, but his argument lacks merit as it is contrary to the plain language of the statute. Furthermore, here, there was medical evidence on a more probable than not basis that Gorre acquired valley fever either while he was on a trip to Las Vegas or while he was in California. BR Ayars 111-12, 121, 137, 139, 149-50; BR Bardana 21, 33; BR Bollyky 14-17, 24-25. This is “exposure from other . . . nonemployment activities.” See RCW 51.32.185(1). It constitutes substantial evidence that Gorre’s valley fever is not related to his employment as a firefighter, and, as such, it would be more than sufficient to rebut a presumption of coverage even assuming that Gorre should have been found to be entitled to such a presumption.

Gorre argues that the employer “by presenting other potential speculative causes of respiratory or infectious disease, or denying the existence of respiratory or infectious disease has failed to present *any* evidence excluding Lt. Gorre’s occupational exposures as *a* proximate cause of his respiratory or infectious diseases.” AB 39 (emphasis in original). The evidence presented by the City of Tacoma and the Department was not speculative. Moreover, there is no particular type of evidence necessary to rebut the presumption (RCW 51.32.185(1)), and there is no reason why it would not be sufficient for the medical witness to deny the existence of a respiratory or infectious disease.

Assuming the presumption applies, the employer and Department rebutted the presumption, and the burden then shifted back to Gorre. “If the employer rebuts the presumption, the burden of proof returns to the worker to show that he is entitled to benefits, i.e., that he suffers from an ‘occupational disease’ as defined in RCW 51.08.140.” *Raum*, 286 P.3d at 709-10. Gorre argues that under RCW 51.32.185 a firefighter does not have to prove causation. AB 38, 43. But Gorre does have to prove causation, if the presumption is rebutted, assuming it applies. The fact-finder then must determine, as the fact-finder would in any other case where there is a dispute as to whether an occupational disease claim should be allowed or not, whether the preponderance of the evidence supports a finding that the worker’s medical condition arose naturally and proximately out of any distinctive condition of the worker’s employment. *See Raum*, 286 P.3d at 710. “If both parties present competent medical testimony, the jury must weigh the evidence to determine whether the worker’s condition ‘arises naturally and proximately out of employment.’” *Id.* at 710 (quoting RCW 51.08.140); *cf. Carle v. McChord Credit Union*, 65 Wn. App. 93, 102, 827 P.2d 1070 (1992) (in discrimination case once shifting burden of production is satisfied, the case goes to the trier of fact). At this point the presumption ceases to matter.

See Bradley v. S.L. Savidge, Inc., 13 Wn.2d 28, 42, 123 P.2d 780 (1942).

This is because in Washington a presumption disappears when it is rebutted. *Id.*

Here, the rebuttable evidentiary presumption does not apply, and the worker had the burden of proof to prove he had an occupational disease. However, even assuming that the rebuttable evidentiary presumption applies, there is substantial evidence supporting that the employer and the Department rebutted the presumption, and there is also substantial evidence to support the trial court's ultimate determination that Gorre did not have an occupational disease. Therefore, even assuming that the trial court should have concluded that Gorre was entitled to a rebuttable presumption of coverage under RCW 51.32.185, the trial court's decision to affirm the Board and Department's decisions to reject the claim must still be affirmed.

2. Gorre Has Not Preserved Any Objections To Testimony

Gorre's theory is that Dr. Ayars and Dr. Bardana had "speculative" testimony that, therefore, their testimony should be disregarded. *See* AB 33. Gorre says speculation, conjecture, or conclusory allegations are not admissible. AB 36. It is unclear if this is meant to be an objection to the evidence being considered part of the record. If so, the Court should not consider any argument about the admissibility of the evidence. Gorre does

not assign error to any evidentiary rulings made by the superior court and this precludes appellate review of this issue. AB 2; RAP 10.3(a)(4); *Escude ex rel. Escude v. King County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2*, 117 Wn. App. 183, 190 n.4, 69 P.3d 895 (2003) (party's failure to assign error precludes appellate consideration of alleged error).

Furthermore, Gorre provides no citation to the record showing that he objected to all the relevant testimony at the Board, or that he preserved any such objections at the superior court. *Lewis v. Simpson Timber Co.*, 145 Wn. App. 302, 329, 189 P.3d 178 (2008) (trial court may only review evidentiary objections raised at the Board); *Sepich v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 75 Wn. 2d 312, 319, 450 P.2d 940 (1969) (in workers' compensation appeal, objections not raised at the trial court are not considered by the appellate court). This Court should not consider his conclusory and unsupported arguments. *State v. Marintorres*, 93 Wn. App. 442, 452, 969 P.2d 501 (1999) (court will not consider conclusory arguments); *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 118 Wn. App. 383, 425, 76 P.3d 741 (2003) (court will not consider arguments unsupported by citation to record and by reasoned argument).

Although Gorre now argues that Dr. Bardana was not qualified to testify about valley fever because he refers these cases out to other physicians (AB 20), Gorre does not point to any objection to Dr.

Bardana's testimony on this point, thus waiving his objection. *See Lewis*, 145 Wn. App. at 329.

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